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Principal activity and review of business 
 
The Directors present the financial statements of St Andrew's Life Assurance Plc (“the Company”). The Company is a limited 
liability company domiciled and incorporated in the United Kingdom.  
 
The principal activity of the Company is the undertaking of ordinary long-term insurance and savings business and associated 
investment activities in the United Kingdom.  The Company offers a wide range of life insurance products such as protection type 
products including whole life, term life and investment type products through the Lloyds Banking Group network.  The Company 
also reinsures business with other Lloyds Banking Group companies and with insurance entities external to the Group. 
 
From 28 June 2010 the Company ceased selling most of the protection contracts. However it continues to receive increments on 
existing contracts. 
 
Results and dividend 
  
The result of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2010 is a profit after tax of £52m (2009: loss after tax of £110m) and this 
has been transferred to reserves. The result reflects market conditions over 2010.  Significant net gains arose in respect of 
investments held by the Company.  There was also a decrease in the value of insurance contract liabilities over the course of 2010  
due to high levels of surrenders on certain products.  The Directors consider the result for the year to be satisfactory in light of these 
factors.   
 
During the year, dividends totalling £Nil (2009: £Nil) were paid.  The Directors recommend an interim dividend of £50m in respect 
of the year ended 31 December 2010.      
 
Key performance indicators 
 
Total insurance premiums received from policyholders were £821m (2009: £1,959m) which were recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income.  The fall in the level of premiums over 2010 primarily reflects certain products being closed to new business 
and the prevailing economic environment. 
 
Funds under management are approximately £12.3bn (2009: £12.6bn)  
 
The Directors believe that the Company currently has adequate capital resources and will continue to do so in the foreseeable future.  
Further information on the capital position of the Company is given in note 26. 
 
The Directors consider that the above key performance indicators are appropriate to the principal activity of the Company.  In 
addition, the Directors are of the opinion that the Financial Services Authority’s (“FSA”) returns’ capital resource requirement 
information and regular actuarial reports, in conjunction with the information presented in the financial statements as a whole, 
provide the management information necessary for the Directors to understand the development, performance and position of the 
business of the Company. 
 
The Company also forms part of the Insurance Division of Lloyds Banking Group plc (“the Group”).  The development, 
performance and position of this Division are discussed in the Lloyds Banking Group’s annual report, which does not form part of 
this report. The Lloyds Banking Group’s annual report also includes information for the Insurance Division on a European 
Embedded Value basis. 
 
Future outlook 
 
The Directors consider that the Company’s principal activities will continue unchanged in the foreseeable future. 
 
Principal risks and uncertainties 
 
The management of the business and the execution of the Company’s strategy are subject to a number of risks. The financial risk 
management objectives and policies of the Company and the exposure to market, insurance, credit and financial soundness risk are 
set out in note 26. 
 
In addition, the Company is also exposed to financial and prudential regulatory reporting risk, in particular the risk of reputational 
damage, loss of investor confidence and/or financial loss arising from the adoption of inappropriate accounting policies, ineffective 
controls over financial reporting or over prudential regulatory reporting and financial reporting fraud. The financial and risk 
management objectives and policies of the Company in respect of financial and regulatory risk are also set out in note 26. 
 
The Company, like other insurers, is subject to legal proceedings in the normal course of business.  Whilst it is not practicable to 
forecast or determine the final results of all pending or threatened legal proceedings, management does not believe that such 
proceedings, including litigation, will have a material effect on the results and financial position of the Company. 



ST ANDREW'S LIFE ASSURANCE PLC (3104670) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) 

________________________________________________________________________________  
 5  

 
Directors 
 
The names of the current Directors are listed on page 3. Changes in directorships during the year (and since the end of the year) are 
as follows: 
 
B Duffin                     (Resigned 18 March 2010) 
P D Loney  (Appointed 25 March 2010) 
J Van Der Wielen (Resigned 25 March 2010) 
T A Leonard  (Resigned 5 April 2010) 
K Luscombe (Appointed 6 April 2010) 
Lord A P Leitch (Appointed 27 April 2010) 
Dr N M Bryson  (Appointed 27 April 2010) 
J Goford   (Appointed 27 April 2010) 
 
Particulars of the Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 27.   
 
Three (2009: two) of the Directors have entered into individual contracts of indemnity with LBG which constitute “qualifying 
pension scheme indemnity provisions” for the purposes of the Companies Act 2006.  Two of these contracts were in force during the 
whole of the financial year and one came into force during the year.  All contracts remain in force.  The contracts are available for 
inspection at the registered office of Lloyds Banking Group plc. 
 
All of the Directors (2009: two) have the benefit of a contract of indemnity which constitutes a "qualifying third party indemnity 
provision".  For two of these Directors, contracts were in force for the whole of the financial year.  For the remaining Directors, a 
contract came into force during the financial year.  The contract remains in force and is available for inspection at the registered 
office of Lloyds Banking Group plc. 
 
Disclosure of information to auditors 
 
Each Director confirms that as far as they are aware there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are 
unaware. Relevant information is defined as “information needed by the Company’s auditors in connection with preparing their 
report”. 
 
Each Director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken in his duty as a Director in order to make himself aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information. 
 
This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of section 418 of the Companies Act 2006. 
 
Re-appointment of auditors 
 
Pursuant to section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, auditors duly appointed by the members of the company shall, subject to any 
resolution to the contrary, be deemed to be reappointed for the next financial year and PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP will therefore 
continue in office. 
 
Policy and practice on payment of creditors 
 
The Company follows “The Better Payment Practice Code” published by the Department for Business Innovation and Skills (“BIS”), 
regarding the making of payments to suppliers. A copy of the code and information about it may be obtained from the BIS, No1 
Victoria Street, London, SW1H 0ET. 
 
The Company’s policy is to agree terms of payment with suppliers and these normally provide for settlement within 30 days after the 
date of the invoice, except where other arrangements have been negotiated. It is the policy of the Company to abide by agreed terms 
of payment, provided the supplier performs according to the terms of contract. 
 
The processing of invoices from suppliers and settlement of trade creditors is undertaken by a separate company within the Lloyds 
Banking Group. The number of days shown in this report, to comply with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006, is 14 days 
(2009: 20 days). 
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Statement of Directors' Responsibilities  
 
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
regulations. 
 
Company law requires the Directors' to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors have 
elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as adopted by 
the European Union.  Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period.  In preparing 
these financial statements, the Directors are required to: 
 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
• state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European Union have been followed, subject to any material departures 

disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and 
• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will 

continue in business. 
 
The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that 
the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company 
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
 
On behalf of the Board of Directors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
C M Herd 
28  March 2011 
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We have audited the financial statements of St Andrew Life Assurance plc. for the year ended 31 December 2010, which comprise 
of the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Balance Sheet, the Statement of Cash Flows, the Statement of Changes in Equity 
and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. 
 
Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors 
 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out on page 6, the Directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and 
express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and 
Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 
 
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s member as a body in accordance with Chapter 
3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose.  We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume 
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save 
where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing. 
 
Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an 
assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied 
and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Directors; and the overall presentation 
of the financial statements. 
 
Opinion on financial statements  
 
In our opinion the financial statements:  
 
• give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2010 and of its profit and cash flows for the 

year then ended;  
• have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; and  
• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act  2006. 
 
Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
 
In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is 
consistent with the financial statements. 
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our 
opinion:  

• adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not 
visited by us; or 

• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 
• certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Joanne Leeson (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
Bristol 
28  March 2011 
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  2010 2009 
 Note £ m £ m 
    
Revenue    
Gross premiums earned   821  1,959  
Premiums ceded to reinsurers  (19) (8) 
Premiums earned net of reinsurance  802  1,951  
    
Fee and commission income 3 2  3  
Investment income 4 439  442  
Net realised gains/(losses) on assets and liabilities at fair value though income  5 117  (101) 
Net fair value gains on assets and liabilities at fair value through income 6 620  1,265  
Total revenue  1,980  3,560  
    
Expenses    
Gross claims and benefits  2,621  1,383  
Claims recoveries from reinsurers   (26) (24) 
  2,595  1,359  
    
Change in insurance contract liabilities  (915) 1,969  
Change in investment contract liabilities   2  -  
Change in reinsurers’ share of liabilities  (38)  2  
  (951) 1,971  
    
Operating expenses 7 184  165  
Expenses for asset management services received  44  35  
  228  200  
    
Total expenses  1,872  3,530  
    
Profit before tax  108  30  
    
Taxation charge 10 (56) (140) 
    
Profit/(Loss) for the year  52  (110) 
    

 
There are no items of comprehensive income which have not already been presented in arriving at the profit for the year.  
Accordingly, the profit for the year is the same as total comprehensive income for the year. 
 
The notes set out on pages 12 to 49 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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  2010 2009 
 Note £ m £ m 
    
ASSETS     
    
Deferred acquisition costs 11 218  275 
Deferred tax assets 12 151  266 
Investment in subsidiaries 13 2,273 - 
Investment properties 14 148  88 
Reinsurers’ share of insurance contract liabilities 20 136  98 
Current tax receivables 12 18  17 
Financial assets:    

Derivative financial instruments 15 231  173 
Loans and receivables 16 62  43 
Investments at fair value through income 17 9,898  13,083 

Cash and cash equivalents 18 44  57 
Total assets  13,179  14,100 
    
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    
    
Capital and reserves attributable to Company’s equity shareholder    
    
Share capital 19 360  360 
Retained earnings  521  469 
Total equity  881  829 
    
Liabilities    
Insurance contract liabilities 20 11,776 12,691 
Deferred tax liabilities 12 69 157 
Current tax payables 12 57 31 
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 21 -  2 
Financial liabilities:    

Investment contract liabilities  22 10  9 
Derivative financial instruments 15 25  20 
Other financial liabilities 23 361  361 

Total liabilities  12,298  13,271 
    
Total liabilities and equity   13,179  14,100 

 
The notes set out on pages 12 to 49 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
Approved by the Board on  28  March 2011 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Kerr Luscombe  
Director 
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  2010 2009 
 Note £ m £ m 
    
Cash flows from operating activities    
Profit before tax  108  30  
Adjusted for:    
 Movement in Deferred acquisition costs 11 57  1  
Net increase in operating assets and liabilities 24 (174) (71) 
Taxation paid  (4) (8) 
Net cash outflows from operating activities  (13) (48) 
    
    
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (13) (48) 
Net cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  57  105  
Net cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 18 44  57  

 
The notes set out on pages 12 to 49 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Issued share 
capital 

£ m 
Retained earnings 

£ m 
Total 
£ m 

     

Balance as at 1 January 2009  360  579  939  

Total comprehensive income for the year  -  (110) (110) 

Balance as at 31 December 2009  360  469  829  

Total comprehensive income for the year  -  52  52  

Balance as at 31 December 2010  360  521  881  

 
Not all of the above amounts can be distributed to the equity shareholder since the Company is required to meet regulatory capital 
requirements. Further details are given in note 26. 
 
The notes set out on pages 12 to 49 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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1. Accounting policies 
 

Summary of significant accounting policies 
 

The Company has identified the accounting policies that are most significant to its business operations and the 
understanding of its results.   
 
The financial statements comprise the statement of comprehensive income, the balance sheet, the statement of cash flows, 
the statement of changes in equity and the related notes.  The preparation of the financial statements necessitates the use of 
estimates and assumptions in applying the accounting policies set out on pages 12 to 22. The accounting policies which 
relate to insurance contracts (policy q), the ascertainment of fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities (policy c) 
and the determination of impairment losses (policy n) are those which involve the most complex or subjective decisions or 
assessments. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, contingent or otherwise, 
at the reporting date, as well as affecting the reported income and expenses for the year. 
 
In each case, the determination of these is fundamental to the financial results and position of the Company, and requires 
management to make complex judgments based on information and financial data that may change in future periods. 
Although the estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current facts as at the reporting date, the actual 
outcome may differ from those estimates.   
 
The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements, which have been consistently 
applied to all periods presented in these financial statements, are set out below. 

 
(a) Basis of preparation 

 
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared: 
 
(1) in accordance with the International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and International Financial Reporting Standards 

(“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the Standards and Interpretations (“SICs”) 
and International Financial Reporting Interpretations (“IFRICs”) issued by its International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee, as endorsed by the European Union;  

 
(2) in accordance with those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRSs; and 
 
(3) under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of investment properties and certain financial 

assets and financial liabilities at fair value through income, as set out in the relevant accounting policies. 
 
The Directors are satisfied that the Company has adequate resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future.  
Accordingly, the financial statements of the Company have been prepared on a going concern basis. 
 
In accordance with IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”, assets and liabilities in the balance sheet are presented in 
accordance with management’s estimated order of liquidity.  Analysis of the assets and liabilities of the Company into 
amounts expected to be received or settled within 12 months after the reporting date (current) and more than 12 months 
after the reporting date (non-current) is presented in the notes. 
 
The Company is exempt by virtue of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements from the requirement to 
prepare group Financial Statements.  These Financial Statements present information about the Company as an individual 
undertaking and not about its group. 
 
Standards and interpretations effective in 2010 
 
The Company has adopted the following new standards and amendments to standards which became effective for financial 
years beginning on or after 1 January 2010. None of these standards or amendments has had a material impact on these 
financial statements. 
 
(i) IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. Requires the effects of all transactions with non-controlling 
interests to be recorded in equity if there is no change in control; any remaining interest in an investee is re-measured to 
fair value in determining the gain or loss recognised in profit or loss where control over the investee is lost. 
 
(ii) Improvements to IFRSs (issued April 2009). Sets out minor amendments to IFRS standards as part of the annual 
improvements process. 
 
Details of those IFRS pronouncements which will be relevant to the Company but which were not effective at 31 
December 2010 and which have not been applied in preparing these financial statements are given in note 29. 
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(b) Product classification 

 
The Company issues contracts that transfer insurance risk or financial risk or both. 
 
Insurance contracts 
 
Insurance contracts are those contracts which transfer significant insurance risk.  Such contracts may also transfer financial 
risk. As a general guideline, the Company defines as significant insurance risk the possibility of having to pay benefits on 
the occurrence of an insured event which are significantly more than the benefits payable if the insured event were not to 
occur.  Once a contract has been classified as an insurance contract, it remains an insurance contract for the remainder of 
its lifetime, even if the insurance risk reduces significantly over time.   
 
Investment contracts 
 
Any long term contracts not considered to be insurance contracts under IFRS because they do not transfer significant 
insurance risk are classified as investment contracts. Such contracts are further analysed between those with discretionary 
participating features ("participating investment contracts") and without discretionary participating features ("non-
participating investment contracts").  
  
A participating investment contract gives investors a contractual right to receive, as a supplement to guaranteed benefits, 
additional discretionary benefits or bonuses that are likely to be a significant portion of the total contractual benefits, 
through participation in the surplus arising from the assets held in the fund. Non-participating contracts are contracts that 
neither transfer significant insurance risk nor give investors a contractual right to receive, as a supplement to guaranteed 
benefits, additional discretionary benefits or bonuses. 
 
The Company does not have any participating investment contracts. Items termed as investment contracts below therefore 
refer only to non-participating investments contracts. 

 
(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities 

 
Management determines the classification of its financial assets and financial liabilities at initial recognition.   
 
Management’s policies for the recognition of specific financial assets and financial liabilities, as identified on the balance 
sheet, are set out under the relevant accounting policies. 
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or where the 
Company has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership.  Financial liabilities are derecognised only 
when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. 
 
All financial assets and financial liabilities are designated at fair value through income, with the exception of certain loans 
and receivables (policy (k)), other financial liabilities (policy (u)) which are stated at amortised cost, and derivatives as 
described further in policy (j). The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets and financial 
liabilities were acquired. Certain financial assets and financial liabilities, whose default accounting treatment would be to 
record these balances at amortised cost, are instead designated at fair value through income as they are held to match 
insurance and investment contract liabilities linked to the changes in fair value of these assets and liabilities, thereby 
reducing measurement inconsistencies, and the fact that these are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value 
basis.  Information on these balances is provided internally on a fair value basis to the Company’s key management.  The 
Company’s investment strategy is to invest in equity and debt securities, investment property and cash and to evaluate the 
Company’s investments with reference to their fair values. 
 
Fair value methodology  
 
All financial instruments carried at fair value are categorised into a “fair value hierarchy” as follows: 

 
(i) Level 1  

 
Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities to those being valued.  An active market is 
one in which arm’s length transactions in the instrument occur with both sufficient frequency and volume to provide 
pricing information on an ongoing basis.  Examples include listed equities, listed debt securities, quoted unit trusts traded 
in active markets and exchange traded derivatives such as futures. 
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(c) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
 
(ii) Level 2 
 
Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as 
prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).  If the asset or liability has a specified (contractual) term, a Level 2 input must 
be observable for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.  Level 2 inputs include the following: 
 

• Quoted prices for similar (but not identical) instruments in active markets; 
• Quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active, where prices are not current, or 

price quotations vary substantially either over time or among market makers; 
• Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the instrument (for example, interest rates and yield curves 

observable at commonly quoted intervals and default rates); and 
• Inputs that are derived principally from, or corroborated by, observable market data by correlation or other 

means. 
  
Examples of these are securities measured using discounted cash flow models based on market observable swap yields and 
listed debt or equity securities in a market that is inactive. 
 
(iii) Level 3 
 
Inputs for the asset or liability are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).  Unobservable inputs may 
have been used to measure fair value where observable inputs are not available.  This approach allows for situations in 
which there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability at the measurement date (or market information for the 
inputs to any valuation models).  Unobservable inputs reflect the assumptions the Company considers that market 
participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, for example certain private equity investments held by the Company. 
 
Where estimates are used, these are based on a combination of independent third-party evidence and internally developed 
models, calibrated to market observable data where possible.   

 
Further analysis of the Company’s instruments held at fair value is set out at note 17. 
 
The Company’s management, through a Fair Value Committee, review information on the fair value of the Company’s 
financial assets and financial liabilities and the sensitivities to these values on a regular basis. 
 
No assets are classified as held-to-maturity or available-for-sale.  Derivative assets are classified as held for trading.  With 
the exception of derivative liabilities, no liabilities are classified as held for trading.  Further information on derivatives is 
set out at policy (j). 
 
Transaction costs incidental to the acquisition of a financial asset are expensed through the statement of comprehensive 
income, within net fair value gains and losses on assets and liabilities at fair value through income. On disposal, those 
transaction costs become realised and are expensed through the statement of comprehensive income, within net realised 
gains/ (losses) on assets and liabilities at fair value through income. 

 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet only when there is a 
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
 
(d) Revenue recognition 
 
Premium income 
 
Premiums received in respect of life insurance contracts are recognised as revenue when they become payable by the 
policyholder and are shown before deduction of commission.  Premiums ceded to reinsurers are recognised when the 
related gross premiums are recognised.  Gross and ceded premiums are recorded through the relevant lines in the statement 
of comprehensive income. 
 
Fee and commission income 
 
Fee and commission income includes deferred income in respect of future charges and amounts received as charges in 
respect of reinsured unit linked business where, due to the reinsurance, the corresponding adjustment to unit linked 
investment contract liabilities is included within the income statement of the reinsuring company. 
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(d) Revenue recognition (continued) 
 
Investment income 
 
Interest income for all interest-bearing financial instruments is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as it 
accrues within investment income. 
 
Dividends receivable in respect of listed shares or Open Ended Investment Company (“OEIC”) distributions are recognised 
on the date that these are quoted ex-dividend.  All dividends received are recognised through the statement of 
comprehensive income, within investment income. 
 
Rental income in respect of investment properties is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on an accruals 
basis, within investment income, when the right to receive payment is established. The cost of incentives is recognised as a 
reduction of total income over the term of the lease on a straight line basis. 
 
(e) Expense recognition 
 
Claims 
 
Claims are recorded as an expense on the earlier of the maturity date or the date on which the claim is notified.  Claims 
recoveries from reinsurers are recognised when the related claims are recognised.  Claims and claims recoveries are 
recognised through the relevant lines in the statement of comprehensive income. Claims also include interest paid on the 
late payment of claims. This is recognised when incurred. 
 
Operating expenses 
 
Commission paid in respect of the business written by the Company is recognised through the statement of comprehensive 
income, within operating expenses.  Where certain criteria are met, commission and other acquisition costs may be 
deferred.  The circumstances under which such costs are deferred are set out at policy (f). 
 
Other operating expenses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as incurred, within operating expenses. 
 
Expenses for asset management services received 
 
Expenses for asset management services received are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as they accrue, 
within expenses for asset management services received. 
 
Finance costs 
 
Interest expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as it 
accrues, within finance costs.   
 
Dividends payable 
 
Dividends payable on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are approved. 
 
(f) Deferred acquisition costs 
 
The costs of acquiring new insurance contracts which are incurred during a financial period but which relate to subsequent 
financial periods, are deferred to the extent that they are recoverable out of future revenue margins.  The deferred 
acquisition cost asset is amortised over the lifetime of the related contracts based on the pattern of margins arising from 
these contracts unless there is evidence to support an alternative recognition basis. Where an alternative recognition basis is 
applied, this is calculated by reference to experience information in respect of the period over which income from contracts 
is earned.  

 
The carrying value of the asset is tested for impairment at each reporting date. The change in the value of deferred 
acquisition costs for the year is recognised through the statement of comprehensive income, within operating expenses.  
Further information on the Company's impairment policy is set out at policy (n). 
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(g) Investment in subsidiairies 

 
The Company owns a variety of subsidiaries as set out in note 13.   Certain subsidiaries, including holdings in mutual 
investment funds, are held primarily as vehicles through which specific investments are held as part of the actively 
managed investment portfolios. Those subsidiaries hold assets which are designated at fair value through income in 
accordance with IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” and primarily match policyholder 
liabilities. Accordingly, subsidiaries which are managed as part of policyholder investment funds are carried at fair value 
and changes in their fair value are reflected in the statement of comprehensive income, within net gains and losses on 
assets and liabilities at fair value through income. 

 
(h) Investment properties 

 
Investment properties, which are held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or both are initially measured 
at fair value. This represents the fair value of the consideration given, including directly attributable transaction costs.  
Subsequently, on a quarterly basis and at each reporting date, such properties are carried at fair value as assessed by 
qualified external appraisers. Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted if necessary for any difference in the 
nature, location or condition of the specific asset. If this information is not available, alternative valuation methods such as 
discounted cash flow analysis or recent prices in less active markets are used.  Investment property being redeveloped for 
continuing use as investment property, or for which the market has become less active, continues to be measured at fair 
value. 
 
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income in the period in which they arise, within net gains and losses on assets and liabilities at fair value 
through income. 
 
(i) Reinsurance 
 
Contracts entered into by the Company with reinsurers under which the Company is compensated for losses on one or 
more contracts issued by the Company and that meet the classification requirements for insurance contracts are classified 
as reinsurance contracts held. 
 
The benefits to which the Company is entitled under its reinsurance contracts held are recognised as reinsurance assets. 
These assets consist of short-term balances due from reinsurers (recognised within loans and receivables) as well as longer 
term recoverables that are dependent on the expected claims and benefits arising under the related reinsured contracts 
(recognised within reinsurers’ share of insurance). Amounts recoverable from or due to reinsurers are measured 
consistently with the amounts associated with the reinsured contracts and in accordance with the terms of each reinsurance 
contract and are regularly reviewed for impairment.  
 
Premiums ceded and claims reimbursed are recognised when due and disclosed separately on the face of the statement of 
comprehensive income. Changes in the reinsurance assets are recognised on the face of the statement of comprehensive 
income through change in reinsurers’ share of liabilities. 

 
(j) Derivative financial instruments 
 
Classification 
 
Derivative financial instruments, including embedded derivatives, are held for trading, with the exception of derivatives 
which are designated as effective hedging instruments of which the Company has none.  Derivatives held for trading are 
used for the purposes of efficient portfolio management or to match contractual liabilities. 
 
Recognition 
 
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured at their fair value.   
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(j) Derivative financial instruments (continued) 

 
Measurement 
 
The best evidence of the fair value of a derivative at initial recognition is the transaction price unless the fair value of that 
instrument is evidenced by comparison with other observable current market transactions in the same instrument. 
 
Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices in active markets, including recent market transactions.  For over-the-
counter (“OTC”) derivatives, the value is derived from a hierarchy of valuation sources, as follows: 
 
• primary source – an independent valuation source 
• secondary source – generally, this would be the counterparty valuation 
• tertiary source – generally, this would be the fund manager valuation 
 
Data from a primary source will initially be used in valuing derivatives.  However, tolerance checks are also performed 
between valuations derived from different sources in order to validate the calculated valuations, detect any potential 
discrepancies and, if appropriate, select a secondary or tertiary price for use in the valuation instead.  If, as a result of this 
process, a value other than one obtained from a primary valuation source were to be used to value a derivative, this would 
be approved by the Derivative and Counterparty Risk Committee.  
 
For exchange traded contracts, the value is based on the quoted bid price at close of business.  
 
Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, through net gains and 
losses on assets and liabilities at fair value through income. 
 
(k) Loans and receivables 

 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market.   
 
Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, subject to impairment,. In practice, the carrying value of these balances equates to the fair 
value due to the short-term nature of the amounts included within loans and receivables.   
 
A charge for impairment in respect of loans and receivables would be made in the statement of comprehensive income 
when there is objective evidence that the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to their original 
terms.  The impairment charge would be recognised in that part of the statement of comprehensive income in which the 
original transaction was reported.  Receivables arising from insurance contracts are also classified in this category and are 
reviewed for impairment as part of the impairment review of loans and receivables.  Such amounts are reflected through 
the statement of comprehensive income within gross premiums written and claims recoveries from reinsurers.  Further 
information on the Company’s impairment policy is set out at policy (n). 

 
(l) Investments at fair value through income 

 
Investments at fair value through income comprise debt and equity securities. 
 
Classification 
 
A financial asset is classified at fair value at inception if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short-term, if 
it forms part of a portfolio of financial assets in which there is evidence of short-term profit-taking, or if designated as 
such.  Further information is set out in policy (c). 
 
Recognition 
 
Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, i.e. the date the Company commits to purchase the 
asset from, or deliver the asset to, the counterparty.  Investments are initially recognised at fair value, being the fair value 
of the consideration given, and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. 
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(l) Investments at fair value through income (continued) 

 
Measurement 
 
Quoted investments 
 
The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices.  If the market for a financial asset is not active, and 
also for unlisted securities, the Company establishes fair value by using valuation techniques.   These include the use of 
similar arm’s length transactions and reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, making maximum use 
of market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-specific inputs.  The following paragraphs detail the valuation 
techniques specific to quoted equity and debt securities. 
 
For equity investments that are quoted and actively traded in organised financial markets, fair value is determined by 
reference to Stock Exchange quoted market bid prices at the final pricing point on the reporting date.  Prices are provided 
by vendors such as Reuters or Bloomberg or by direct reference to the Stock Exchange. 
 
For quoted debt security investments, bid prices at the final pricing point on the reporting date are obtained from index 
providers who obtain prices from a number of leading brokers, investment banks and market makers.  Where no 
independent price is available, a valuation technique is used to determine fair value. The technique uses a spread over a 
comparable term gilt as the best estimate of fair value. Spreads are calculated by reference to the wider market movement 
in credit spreads, the way in which the security is structured, other assets issued by the issuer or other assets with similar 
characteristics. 
 
For corporate bonds, the Company's management perform a comparison of information received from the index provider 
used against other available price sources on a monthly basis to ensure that prices can be supported by market data. 
 
In addition to the measurement policies, investment asset prices are reviewed weekly to identify those assets where the 
price has not moved for at least six days. This review provides an initial indication that the market for each identified asset 
may be inactive. These assets are then reviewed by management who may identify an alternative price source for assets 
which in their view are still actively traded. On conclusion that a particular asset is illiquid, management will identify an 
alternative valuation technique by deciding whether an appropriate price can be obtained from a recognised independent 
broker.  Where this is the case, the broker will be approved as a price source for the asset. A price will then be obtained 
from the broker on a monthly basis.  A review of all illiquid assets and prices obtained or calculated is conducted by an 
internal pricing committee on a monthly basis. 
 
Unquoted investments 
 
For unquoted equity investments such as private equity, fair value is determined by reference to the most recent valuation, 
adjusted for any cash movements or other relevant information since the last valuation point, which is likely to be up to 
one quarter prior to the reporting date. 
 
The fair value of holdings in OEICs and Unit Trusts is determined as the last published price applicable to the OEIC sub-
fund or the Unit Trust at the reporting date.  These are classified as unquoted equity investments or investments in 
subsidiaries, dependent on the extent to which control is deemed to be exercisable over those sub-funds. 
 
In order to ensure that a fair value is recognised for unquoted or illiquid debt securities, the primary price source is an 
external broker valuation. If available, a further external broker valuation is sought as a secondary valuation source in 
order to validate the primary source. A formal review is then carried out which challenges the external valuation and 
includes consideration of the impact of any relevant movements in underlying variables such as: 
 

• underlying movements in the relevant markets, for example credit spreads; 
• how current transactions are being priced in the market; 
• how the security is structured; and 
• any supporting quantitative analysis as appropriate, for example with reference to Bloomberg or internal models. 

 
Net realised gains and losses on assets and liabilities at fair value through income 
 
Realised gains and losses on assets and liabilities are calculated as the difference between net sale proceeds and the 
original cost and are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they arise, within net 
realised gains and losses on assets and liabilities at fair value through income. 
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(l) Investments at fair value through income (continued) 
 
Net fair value gains and losses on assets and liabilities at fair value through income 
 
Unrealised gains and losses on assets and liabilities are calculated as the difference between the current valuation of the 
asset or liability at the reporting date and the original cost. Movements in unrealised gains and losses arising are recognised 
in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they arise, within net fair value gains and losses on assets 
and liabilities at fair value through income. The movement in the unrealised gains and losses recognised in the year also 
includes the reversal of unrealised gains and losses recognised in earlier accounting periods in respect of asset and liability 
disposals in the current period. 
 
(m)  Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash at bank, short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three 
months or less (excluding such investments as otherwise meet this definition but which are held for investment purposes 
rather than for the purposes of meeting short-term cash commitments) and bank overdrafts where a legal right of set-off 
exists. 
 
(n) Impairment 
 
Financial assets 
 
The carrying value of all financial assets held at amortised cost is reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The identification of impairment and the 
determination of recoverable amounts is an inherently uncertain process involving various assumptions and factors, 
including the financial condition of the counterparty, expected future cash flows, observable fair prices and expected net 
selling prices.  
 
In order to determine whether financial assets are impaired, all financial assets for which the fair value has fallen below the 
recoverable amount, assessed using cost price and the factors above, either by a significant amount or for a prolonged 
period of time are individually reviewed. A distinction is made between negative revaluations due to general market 
fluctuations and due to issuer-specific developments. The impairment review focuses on issuer-specific developments 
regarding financial condition and future prospects, taking into account the intent and ability to hold the securities under the 
Company’s long term investment strategy. 
 
Non-financial assets 
 
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation or depreciation and are tested annually for 
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  
 
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its estimated recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. For the purpose 
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows. 
 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has occurred, the amount of the loss is charged to the relevant line in 
the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which it occurs.   
 
Impairment process 
 
Objective evidence that an asset or group of assets is impaired includes observable data that comes to the attention of the 
Company about the following events: 
 

(i) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or debtor; 
(ii) a breach of contract; 
(iii) the disappearance of an active market for that asset because of financial difficulties; or 
(iv) observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a 

group of assets since the initial recognition of those assets, even where the decrease cannot yet be identified 
with the individual assets of the Company, including: 
• adverse changes in the payment status of issuers or debtors; or 
• national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the Company. 
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(n) Impairment (continued) 
 
The Company first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for assets that are individually 
significant.  If the Company determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed asset, 
whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively 
assesses them for impairment.  Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such 
assets by being indicative of the issuer’s ability to pay all amounts due under the contractual terms of the debt instrument 
being evaluated.  Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to 
be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment. 
 
(o) Taxes 
 
Tax on the profit or loss for the year is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income within taxation and comprises 
current and deferred tax.  

 
Current tax 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date, together with adjustments to estimates made in prior years.  

 
Deferred income tax 
 
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. However, if the 
deferred income tax arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination 
that, at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, it is not accounted for.  The amount 
of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
 
Deferred income tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilised. 
 
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be 
utilised. 
 
Allocation of tax charge between equity shareholder and policyholders 
 
The tax expense in the statement of comprehensive income is analysed between policyholder and shareholder tax.  This 
allocation is based on an assessment of the rates of tax which will be applied to the returns under current UK tax rules.  
 
(p) Share capital 
 
Shares are classified as equity when there is no obligation to transfer cash or other assets.  Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issue of equity instruments are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds, net of tax. 
 
(q) Insurance contracts 
 
The Company issues life insurance contracts to protect customers from the consequences of events (such as death, critical 
illness or disability) that would affect the ability of the customer or their dependants to maintain their current level of 
income and also annuity contracts.  Guaranteed claims paid on occurrence of the specified insured event are either fixed or 
linked to the extent of the economic loss suffered by the policyholder.   
 
Insurance contracts which are not unit-linked 
 
The liability is calculated by estimating the future cash flows over the duration of in-force policies and discounting them 
back to the valuation date, allowing for probabilities of occurrence.  The liability will vary with movements in interest 
rates and with the cost of life assurance and annuity benefits where future mortality is uncertain.  Assumptions are made in 
respect of all material factors affecting future cash flows, including future interest rates, mortality and costs. Changes in the 
value of these liabilities are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income through changes in insurance contract 
liabilities.  
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(q) Insurance contracts (continued) 
 
Insurance contracts which are unit-linked 
 
Allocated premiums in respect of unit-linked insurance contracts are recognised as liabilities.  These liabilities are 
increased or reduced by the change in the unit prices and are reduced by policy administration fees, mortality and surrender 
charges and any withdrawals.  Where the mortality charges deducted in each period from the policyholders as a group are 
not considered adequate to cover the expected total death benefit claims in excess of the contract account balances in each 
period, additional liabilities are established for these claims. Revenue consists of fees deducted for mortality, policy 
administration and surrender charges.  Interest or changes in the unit prices credited to the account balances incurred in the 
period are charged as expenses in the statement of comprehensive income, through changes in insurance contract liabilities 
as appropriate. Benefit claims in excess of the account balances incurred in the period are charged as expenses in the 
statement of comprehensive income, through gross claims and benefits paid.   
  
Receivables and payables 
 
Receivables and payables are recognised when due.  These include amounts due to and from agents, brokers and insurance 
contract holders. 
 
(r) Provisions for other liabilities and charges 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, when 
it is probable that the obligation will result in an outflow of resources to settle the obligation and when a reliable estimate 
of the amount of the obligation can be made.   
 
The Company recognises provision for onerous contracts when the expected benefits to be derived from contracts are less 
than the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contracts.   
 
Contingent liabilities are possible obligations whose existence depends on the outcome of uncertain future events or those 
present obligations where the outflows of resources are uncertain or cannot be measured reliably. Contingent liabilities are 
not recognised in the financial statements but are disclosed unless the likelihood of possible obligations arising is remote. 
 
(s) Investment contracts 
 
The Company's investment contracts are primarily unit-linked. These contracts are accounted for as financial liabilities 
whose value is contractually linked to the fair values of financial assets within the Company's unitised investment funds. 
The value of the unit-linked financial liabilities is determined by the value of corresponding unit-linked financial assets 
attributed to the contract holders at the balance sheet date. Their value is never less than the amount payable on surrender, 
discounted for the required notice period where applicable.  
 
The element of premiums and claims in respect of investment contracts which is invested or withdrawn on behalf of the 
policyholder is excluded from the statement of comprehensive income, with all movements in the policyholder liability and 
related assets being recorded in the balance sheet, within investment contract liabilities.  Changes in the value of the 
investment contract liabilities relating to the changes in the value of backing assets are recognised through the statement of 
comprehensive income, within change in investment contract liabilities. 
 
(t) Liability adequacy test 
 
At each reporting date, liability adequacy tests are performed to ensure the adequacy of the insurance contract liabilities 
net of related deferred costs. In performing these tests, current best estimates of future contractual cash flows, claims 
handling and policy administration expenses, as well as investment income from assets backing such liabilities, are used. 
Any deficiency is immediately charged to the statement of comprehensive income, initially by writing off the relevant 
assets and subsequently by establishing a provision for losses arising from the liability adequacy tests. 
 
(u) Other financial liabilities 
 
Other financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost.  In practice, the carrying value of these balances equates to the fair value due to the short-term 
nature of the amounts included within other financial liabilities. 
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(v) Foreign currency translation 
 
Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The financial statements are presented in pounds 
sterling, rounded to the nearest million (“£ m”), which is the Company’s presentational and functional currency.  
 
Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the exchange rates ruling at the 
reporting date. Revenue transactions and those relating to the acquisition and realisation of investments have been 
translated at average rates of exchange (unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates 
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case revenue transactions are translated at the dates of the transactions).  Any 
exchange differences are dealt with in that part of the statement of comprehensive income in which the underlying 
transaction is reported. 
 
(w)  Collateral 
 
The Company receives or pledges collateral in the form of cash or securities in respect of derivative transactions it 
undertakes. The Company also receives collateral in the form of securities in respect of stock lending agreements and 
repurchase agreements. Collateral received is recognised as an asset on the balance sheet when the risks and rewards of 
ownership are substantially transferred to the Company. A corresponding liability for repayment of collateral is recognised 
in financial liabilities. Collateral received that is legally segregated from the assets of the Company, is not recognised on 
the balance sheet. Collateral pledged continues to be recognised as an asset on the balance sheet unless the risks and 
rewards have been substantially transferred to the counterparty. 
 

2. Critical accounting estimates and judgments in applying accounting policies 
 
The Company’s management makes estimates and judgments that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities. 
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 
 
(a) Insurance contracts 
 
The estimation of the ultimate liability arising from insurance contracts which are not unit-linked is the Company’s most 
critical accounting estimate. 
 
The liabilities are calculated using a projection of future cash flows after making prudent assumptions about matters such 
as investment return, expenses, credit default and mortality. Discount rates used to value the liabilities are set with 
reference to the risk adjusted yields on the underlying assets. The most critical non-economic assumptions are lapse rates 
in respect of unit-linked bond business written and levels of future expenses. Such assumptions are based on recent actual 
experience, supplemented by industry information where appropriate.  
 
At each reporting date, the estimates and assumptions referred to above are reassessed for adequacy and changes will be 
reflected in adjustments to the liability.  Further information on these balances is given in note 25.   
 
Sensitivities regarding changes to key assumptions in calculating insurance contract liabilities are given in note 25. 
 
(b) Deferred acquisition costs  
 
For insurance contracts, acquisition costs which are incurred during a financial period but which relate to subsequent 
financial periods are deferred to the extent that they are recoverable out of future revenue margins.  All other costs are 
recognised as expenses when incurred.  The calculation of the deferred acquisition cost asset and its pattern of amortisation 
requires estimation of both the expected pattern of receipt of future revenue margins and the period that the business is 
expected to remain in force.  Further information on this asset is given in note 11. 
 
(c) Taxation 
 
The Company recognises current and deferred tax assets in line with IAS 12 “Income Taxes”.  In recognising these assets, 
management takes into account the likely impact of tax issues that are subject to ongoing discussion with HM Revenue and 
Customs and other tax authorities.  With regard to the Company’s deferred tax assets, a significant feature is the 
management judgment applied in determining the timing, sensitivities and probability of them reversing.  This judgment is 
based on tax forecasts reflecting new business assumptions, sensitivities and proposed management actions.  Further 
information in relation to the Company’s current and deferred tax assets is set out at notes 10 and 12. 



ST ANDREW'S LIFE ASSURANCE PLC (3104670) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010  

 
  23

 
3. Fee and commission income 
 

  2010  2009 
  £ m  £ m 
     
Fee income  2 3 
    
Total  2 3 

 
4. Investment income 
 

  2010  2009 
  £ m  £ m 
     
Investments at fair value through income     
     Interest income on investments  170 173  
     Dividend income  256 261 
     Rental income on investment properties  11 7 
     Other  2 1 
    
Total  439 442 

 
5. Net realised gains/ (losses) on assets and liabilities at fair value through income 
 

  2010  2009 
  £ m  £ m 
     
Derivative financial instruments at fair value through income  (20) (32) 
Investments at fair value through income    
      Equity securities (including gains in holdings of subsidiaries at fair value)  65  (105) 
      Debt securities  72  50  
Investment properties at fair value through income  -  (14) 
    
Total  117  (101) 

 
6. Net fair value gains on assets and liabilities at fair value through income 
 

  2010  2009 
  £ m  £ m 
     
Derivative financial instruments at fair value through income  (21) (7) 
Investments at fair value through income    
      Equity securities (including gains in holdings of subsidiaries at fair value)  641 1,361 
      Debt securities  (5) (111) 
Investment properties at fair value through income  5 21 
Foreign exchange  - 1 
    
Total  620 1,265 

 
7. Operating expenses  
 

  2010  2009 
  £ m  £ m 
     
Acquisition and origination costs in respect of insurance and investment contracts  56  131  
Expenses for administration  71  33  
    
  127  164  
Change in deferred acquisition costs   57  1  
    
Total  184  165  
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7. Operating expenses (continued) 

 
The administration of the Company is undertaken by other group companies. A recharge is levied from these undertakings 
to the company in respect of those costs incurred on behalf of the Company. 

 
The Company had no direct employees during the year (2009: Nil). The employee costs, including pension costs and 
share-based payment costs, are included in the recharges noted above. 
 

8. Auditors’ remuneration 
 

 2010 2009 
 £'000 £'000 
   
Fees payable for the audit of the Company's current year annual report 113 91  
Fees payable for other services:  
        Other services provided pursuant to legislation 49 48  
Total audit fees 162 139  
  
Other services  - audit related 175 136  
Total other audit fees 175 136  
  
Total 337 275  

 
Audit fees for 2009 and 2010 were borne by another company within the Lloyds Banking Group and recharged to the 
Company. 

 
9. Finance costs 
 

In 2009 the finance costs reported of £3m were in respect of interest paid on the late payment of claims. This has been 
reclassified to "Gross claims and benefits" on the statement of comprehensive income to improve presentation. 

 
10. Taxation 
 

(a) Current year tax charge 
 

  2010  2009 
  £ m  £ m 
     
Current tax:     
UK corporation tax  31 17  
Overseas tax  1 1  
Adjustment in respect of prior years  (3) - 
Total current tax  29 18  
    
Deferred tax:    
Origination/(reversal) of temporary differences  52 129  
Change in tax rate  (3) - 
Adjustment in respect of prior years 
 

 (22) (7) 

Total deferred tax  27 122  
    
Total income tax charge  56 140  
 
The policyholder tax benefit or expense is included in income tax expense.  Policyholder tax is a charge of £77m (2009: 
charge of £213m), including a prior year tax charge of £42m (2009: credit of £16m). 
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10. Taxation (continued) 
 

(b)  Reconciliation of tax charge 
 

  2010  2009 
  £ m  £ m 
Profit before tax  108  30  
     
Tax at 28% (2009: 28%)  30 8  
Effects of:   
UK tax basis for life insurance profits  (3) (20) 
Policyholder tax  55 142  
Adjustment to tax charge in respect of prior years  (24) 9  
Overseas tax  1 1  
Change in tax rate  (3) - 

   
Total   56 140  

 
11. Deferred acquisition  costs  
 

  2010  2009 
 £ m  £ m 
    
At 1 January  275 276  
Amounts incurred during the period 23 74  
Amortisation during the period (80) (75) 
   
At 31 December  218 275  

 
Of the above total, £166m (2009: £193m ) is expected to be recovered more than one year after the reporting date. 
 

12. Tax assets and liabilities 
 

 2010  2009 
 £ m  £ m 
    
Current tax receivables 18 17  
Deferred tax assets 
 

151 266  

Total tax assets 169 283  
   
Current tax payables      57    31  
Deferred tax liabilities  69 157  
           
Total tax liabilities 126 188  

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities included in the above table are expected to be recovered more than one year after the 
reporting date. 
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12. Tax assets and liabilities (continued) 
 

(a) Recognised deferred tax  
 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. The amounts are as 
follows:  

 
 2010 2009 
 £ m £ m 
   
Deferred tax assets comprise:   
Expenses deductible in future periods 69 101 
Unrealised losses on investment assets  75 151 
Other insurance related items 7 14 
Total deferred tax assets 151 266 
   
Deferred tax liabilities comprise:   
Deferred acquisition costs  59 77 
Other insurance related items 10 80 
Total deferred tax liabilities 69 157 
   
Net deferred tax assets 82 109 

  
The deferred tax balances include an asset of £75m (2009: asset of £150m) in respect of unrealised losses on investments. 
Cash flow projections undertaken indicate that there will be scope to offset these losses against future taxable profits 
arising on existing contracts. 
 
The Finance Act (No 2) 2010 reduced the rate of corporation tax from 28% to 27% with effect from 1 April 2011.  The 
impact of this reduction in tax rate, which is applicable to the calculation of deferred tax assets and liabilities at the 
reporting date, is reflected in the above table.   
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.  The tax (charge)/credit in the income statement relating to each of 
the above items is as follows: 

 
2010 2009  
£ m £ m 

   
Expenses deductible in future periods 33 (11) 
Unrealised gains on investment assets 75 194  
Deferred acquisition costs (18) -  
Other insurance items (63) (61) 

   
Total deferred tax charge 27 122  

 
(b) Unrecognised deferred tax 
 
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry forwards only to the extent that realisation of the related tax 
benefit is probable. 

 
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of unrelieved capital losses of £13m (2009: £Nil), as there is 
insufficient certainty as to the availability of future profits. 
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13. Investment in subsidiaries 
 

 Investment in subsidiary undertakings are as follows: 
 

 2010 
 £ m 
  
At 1 January -  
Movements in holdings in OEICS at fair value through income 2,273 
  
At 31 December 2,273 

 
The Company invests in a number of OEICs which have been classified as investments in subsidiaries as described in note 
1(g). These holdings were previously disclosed within Investments at fair value through income as equity. 

 
14. Investment properties  
 

 2010 2009 
 £ m £ m 
   
At 1 January 88  107  
Additions – new properties 55  -  
Disposals -  (40) 
Net gain from change in fair values 
 

5  21  

At 31 December 148  88  
 

The rental income arising from investment properties during the year amounted to £11m (2009: £7m), which is included in 
investment income.  
 
The investment properties are independently valued by Colliers CRE on at least a quarterly basis for the purpose of 
determining the open market value of the properties. 
 
Investment properties are generally recoverable more than one year after the reporting date. 

 
15. Derivative financial instruments 
  

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into swap contracts, option contracts, index futures contracts and 
forward foreign exchange contracts.  All such contracts are undertaken either for efficient portfolio management purposes 
or for the purpose of matching contractual liabilities.  
 
Swap contracts include interest rate swaps.  An interest rate swap is an agreement between two parties to exchange fixed 
and variable interest rate payments, based upon interest rates defined in the contract, without the exchange of the 
underlying principal amount. 
 
Option contracts include index and single equity options.  Such options represent a contract sold by one party to another 
party offering the right, but not the obligation, to buy or sell a financial asset at an agreed price on a specified future date or 
within a specified period of time. 
 
Index futures contracts are used to hedge the investment portfolio against adverse movements in underlying markets or 
effecting policy switches between markets without the need to trade the underlying securities.  Futures may also be used 
for the purposes of efficient portfolio management provided that their substance would otherwise be permitted as a series 
of direct transactions. 
 
Forward foreign exchange contracts are an agreement to buy or sell a specified amount of foreign currency on a specified 
future date at an agreed rate. 
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15.   Derivative financial instruments  (continued) 

 
Details regarding derivative financial instruments are given in the following tables: 

 
 2010 2009 
 Contract 

Amount 
Fair value 

asset 
Fair value 
liabilities 

Contract 
Amount 

Fair value 
asset 

Fair value 
liabilities

 £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m 
       
Derivative financial instruments held for 
trading: 

Swap contracts 3,924 151 15 3,530 157 15 
Option contracts 2,360 80 7 3,336 14 2 
Index futures contracts 68 - 1 300 1 3 
Forward foreign exchange contracts 50 - 2 30 1 - 

       
Total  6,402 231 25 7,196 173 20 

 
Derivative financial instrument assets include £208m (2009: £169m) that is expected to be recovered more than one year after 
the reporting date. 
 
Derivative financial instrument liabilities include £13m (2009: £15m) that is expected to be settled more than one year after the 
reporting date. 
 
The amount of £39m (2009: £144m) was accepted by the Company in assets that it is permitted to sell or repledge even in 
the absence of default of the owner of the collateral.  No collateral was sold or repledged during the year or in the prior 
year. The Company has an obligation to return these assets to the pledgor. 

 
16. Loans and receivables 
 

 2010 2009 
 £ m £ m 
   
   
Insurance business:   
     Amounts receivable in respect of direct insurance business 15 11 

  
Other loans and receivables:   
     Accrued interest and rent 16 20 
     Amounts due from related parties 18 9 
     Collateral asset 7 - 
     Others 
 

6 3 

Total 62 43 
  
Of the above total, £7m (2009: £Nil) is expected to be recovered more than one year after the reporting date. 
 
None of the above balances are interest bearing (2009: £Nil).   
 
There is no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to loans and receivables.  Further information in respect of 
credit risk is given in note 26. 
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17. Investments at fair value through income 
 

 2010 2009 
 £ m £ m 
   
At fair value:   
Shares and other variable yield securities:   
Listed 1,025 996 
Unlisted 7,144 10,273 
 8,169 11,269 
Debt and other fixed/variable income securities 1,729 1,814 
   
Total investments at fair value 9,898 13,083 
   

 
Of the total unlisted equity, liquidity funds amount to £1,879m (2009: £3,666m) 
 
Of the total debt securities above, £1,576m (2009: £1,485m) are listed government bonds. 
 
Of the debt securities, £1,251m (2009: £1,480m) is expected to be recovered more than one year after the reporting date. Due 
to the nature of equity securities and investments in pooled investment funds, there is no fixed term associated with these 
securities. 
 
The Company enters into securities lending transactions whereby cash and securities are temporarily received or 
transferred as collateral. Assets and liabilities relating to such arrangements at 31 December are as follows: 

 
  Asset Related Liability 
  2010 

£ m 
2009* 
£ m 

2010 
£ m 

2009* 
£ m 

      
Equity Investments  18 - 31 - 
Debt Investments  227 - 225 - 
Assets subject to repurchase  245 - 256 - 

 
    *No securities lending transactions were in place at 31 December 2009. 

 
18. Cash and cash equivalents  
 

Cash and cash equivalents for use in the statement of cash flows include the following: 
 

 2010 2009 
 £ m £ m 
   
Cash at bank 12 18 
Short term deposits 32 39 
   
Total 44 57 

 
Cash and cash equivalents in the above table contains amounts of £42m (2009: £56m) which are held entirely within the 
long-term insurance funds of the Company. These balances are not therefore readily available for use by the Company. 

 
19. Share capital  
 

 2010 2009 
 £ m £ m 
   
Authorised share capital: 
360,000,000 ordinary shares of £1 each  360 360 
   
Allotted, called up and fully paid share capital:   
360,000,000 ordinary shares of £1 each 360 360 

 
There were no changes in ordinary share capital during the year. 
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20. Insurance contract liabilities 
 

An analysis of the change in insurance contract liabilities and reinsurers’ share of insurance contract liabilities is as follows: 
 

 2010 2009 
£ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m  

Gross Reinsurance Net Gross Reinsurance Net 
       
At 1 January 12,691 (98) 12,593 10,722 (100) 10,622 
New business 623 - 623 1,865 (1) 1,864 
Change in existing business (1,573) (38) (1,611) 104 24 128 
Assumption changes  35 - 35 - (21) (21) 
       
At 31 December 11,776 (136) 11,640 12,691 (98) 12,593 

 
As the Company is wholly owned by an entity which prepares group financial statements, the Company has taken 
advantage of the provisions contained in FRS 27 and has not presented a capital position statement and supporting 
disclosures. Information in which the Company is included is given in the financial statements of Lloyds Banking Group 
plc. 
 
An analysis of the contractual and expected maturities of insurance contract liabilities is given in note 26. 

 
 
21. Provisions for other liabilities and charges 
 

 2010 2009 
 £ m £ m 
   
At 1 January 2 - 
Provisions made during the year - 2 
Provisions released during the year 
 

(2) - 

At 31 December - 2 
 

 
22. Investment contract liabilities 
  

An analysis of the change in net investment contract liabilities is as follows: 
 

 2010 2009 
£ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m  

Gross Reinsurance Net Gross Reinsurance Net 
       
At 1 January 9 - 9 10 - 10 
Change in existing business 1 - 1 (1) - (1) 
       
At 31 December 10 - 10 9 - 9 

 
An analysis of the contractual and expected maturities of investment contract liabilities is given in note 26. 
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23. Other financial liabilities 
 

 2010 2009 
 £ m £ m 
   
Insurance business: 
Amounts payable in respect of direct insurance business 1 4 
Claims outstanding 100 110 
   
Other liabilities:   
Due to related parties 63 74 
Due to brokers 151 22 
Collateral liability 39 144 
Other 7 7 
   
Total 361 361 

 
Of the above total, £39m (2009: £127m) is expected to be settled more than one year after the reporting date. 
 

24.  Net increase in operating assets and liabilities 
 

 2010 2009 
 £ m £ m 
   
(Increase)/ decrease in operating assets:   
Investment in subsidiaries (2,273) - 
Investment property (60) 18 
Amounts due from reinsurers in respect of insurance contracts (38) 2 
Financial assets:   
Investments 3,185 (2,130) 
Loans and receivables  (19) 43 
Derivative financial instruments (58) 26 
   
Net decrease/ (increase) in operating assets 737 (2,041) 
   
Increase/ (Decrease) in operating liabilities:   
Insurance contract liabilities (915) 1,970 
Financial liabilities:   
Investment contract liabilities 1 (1) 
Derivative financial instruments 5 (39) 
Other financial liabilities - 42 
Provision for other liabilities and charges (2) 2 
Accruals and deferred income 
 

- (4) 

Net  (decrease)/ increase in operating liabilities (911) 1,970 
   
Net increase in operating assets and liabilities (174) (71) 
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25. Insurance and investment contract liabilities – assumptions, change in assumptions and sensitivities 
 

All policyholder liabilities are non-profit fund liabilities and are accounted for using a traditional prospective actuarial 
discounted cash flow methodology. 

  
 (1)         Processes used to determine key assumptions in respect of insurance and investment contracts 
   
 (i)   Insurance contracts 

 
The liabilities of the Company are determined on the basis of recognised actuarial methods and consistently with the approach to 
be used for the FSA returns. The methods used involve estimating future policy cash flows over the duration of the in-force book 
of policies, and discounting these cash flows back to the valuation date allowing for probabilities of occurrence. 
 
The liabilities will vary with movements in interest rates (this applies in particular to the cost of guaranteed benefits payable in 
the future) and with movements in the cost of life assurance and annuity benefits for which future mortality is uncertain. 
 
Assumptions are made in respect of all material factors affecting future cash flows, including future interest rates, mortality and 
costs. Generally, assumptions used to value the liabilities contain a margin for adverse deviation and are determined as 
required by FSA rules. This margin for adverse deviation is based on management’s judgment and reflects management’s 
views on the inherent level of uncertainty. The assumptions to which the liabilities are most sensitive are the interest rates 
used to discount the cash flows and the mortality assumptions, particularly those for annuitants. The key assumptions used in 
the measurement of the Non Profit Fund liabilities are: 
 
• Interest rates 
 

The rates used are derived consistently with the approach to be used for the FSA returns. These limit the rates of interest 
that can be used by reference to a number of factors including the dividend and earnings yields on equities, rental 
income, and redemption yields on fixed interest assets at the valuation date. Margins for risk are allowed for in the 
assumed interest rates. These are derived from the limits contained in the FSA Rules, including reductions made to the 
available yields to allow for default risk based upon the credit rating of each stock, and an over-riding restriction which 
limits the yield from investments in property by reference to the yield from appropriate long-term gilts. 
 

• Mortality and morbidity 
 

The mortality and morbidity assumptions  are set with regard to the Company’s actual experience where this provides a 
reliable basis, and relevant industry data otherwise, and includes a margin for adverse deviation. 
 

• Maintenance expenses 
 

Allowance is explicitly made for future policy costs. Expense loadings are determined by reference to an internal analysis 
of current and expected future expense levels, plus a margin for adverse deviations. Explicit allowance is made for future 
expense inflation from the valuation date. No allowance is made for any expected reductions in expense levels that have 
not occurred at the valuation date.   
 

• Persistency rates 
 

Prudent lapse rate assumptions have been used for term assurance business. Whether a lapse rate is prudent broadly 
depends on whether the policy liability is negative or positive.  Thus for each policy a high lapse rate is assumed where 
the projected liability is negative and a low lapse rate is assumed where the projected liability is positive.  Prudent lapse 
rate assumptions have been used for investment bond business.  As the liabilities on bonds are non-negative, a low lapse 
rate is assumed. 
 

(ii) Investment contracts  
 
These contracts are unit-linked, and the liability is determined by the value of corresponding unit-linked financial assets 
attributed to the contract holders at the balance sheet date  
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25.   Insurance and investment contract liabilities – assumptions, change in assumptions and sensitivities (continued) 
 

(2)         Key assumptions 
 

 The principal assumptions underlying the calculation of the insurance contract liabilities are given below 
 

 (i)         Investment returns and discount rates 
 

 
 
Class of business 

2010 
Interest rate (net) 

% 

2009 
Interest rate (net) 

% 
Conventional Life business 1.51 2.11 
Non-unit reserves on linked business 1.51 2.11 

 
(ii)         Mortality assumptions  
 
The mortality assumptions for the main classes of business are as follows: 
 

   
Term Assurances 2010 2009 

   
Males   
Smoker 92.0% TMS00U 109% TMS00U 
Non-Smoker 80.5% TMN00U 86% TMN00U 
   
Females   
Smoker 109.25% TFS00U 115% TFS00U 
Non-Smoker 109.25% TFN00U 103.5% TFN00U 
 

   
Term Assurances 2010 2009 

   
Males 66% AMC00U 88% AMC00U 
   
Females 83% AFC00U 83% AFC00U 
 
 
(3)           The effect of changes in key assumptions  
 
Changes in certain key assumptions were made during 2010 with the following impacts on profit after tax: 
 

2010 
Impact on profit 

after tax 

2009 
Impact on 

profit after tax 

 
Variable 

£m £m 
   

Expenses (18) (1) 
Inflation 6 n/a 
Interest rates (7) n/a 
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25.        Insurance and investment contract liabilities – assumptions, change in assumptions and sensitivities (continued) 
 

 (4)         Sensitivity analysis (in respect of insurance contracts only) 
 
The following table demonstrates the effect of changes in key assumptions on profit after tax assuming that the other assumptions 
remain unchanged. In practice this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some assumptions may be correlated. 
 

 
Change in variable 

2010 
Impact on profit 

after tax 

2009 
Impact on profit 

after tax 

 
Variable 

 £ m £ m 
    

Other Mortality 5% reduction 6 - 
Lapses 10% reduction (1) - 
Maintenance expenses 10% reduction 12 1 
Interest rate – change in redemption yield (1) 0.25% reduction (3) (3) 

 
(1) This interest rate sensitivity shows the impact of a 0.25 per cent movement in gilt yields and all of the consequential impacts 
on key economic assumptions including the investment returns, the valuation rates of interest and values of assets backing the 
business in question. This excludes any impact on assets not backing the liabilities. 

 
26. Risk management 
 

The principal activity of the Company is the undertaking of ordinary long-term insurance and savings business and 
associated investment activities in the United Kingdom.  The Company offers a wide range of life insurance products such as 
whole life, term life and investment type products through the Lloyds Banking Group network and direct sales.  The 
Company also reinsures business with insurance entities external to the Group. 
 
The Company assesses the relative costs and concentrations of each type of risk through the Individual Capital Assessment 
(“ICA”) and material issues are escalated to the Insurance Risk Committee and the LP&I Executive Committee. 
 
This note summarises these risks and the way in which the Company manages them. 

 
(a)  Governance framework 
 

The Company is part of the Insurance Division of Lloyds Banking Group.  This Division has established a risk management 
function with responsibility for implementing the Lloyds Banking Group risk management framework within the Company. 
 
The approach to risk management ensures that there is effective independent checking or “oversight” of key decisions 
through the operation of a “three lines of defence” model. The first line of defence is line management, who have direct 
accountability for risk decisions. Risk provide oversight and challenge and form the second line of defence. Internal Audit 
constitutes the third line of defence, which provides the required independent assurance to the Audit Committee and the 
Board that risks within the Company are recognised, monitored and managed within acceptable parameters.  
 
An enterprise-wide risk management framework for the identification, assessment, measurement and management of risk is 
in place. The framework is in line with Lloyds Banking Group’s risk management principles and covers the full spectrum of 
risks that the Company is exposed to. Under this framework, risks are categorised according to an approved Lloyds Banking 
Group risk language which has been adopted across the Company. This covers the principal financial risks faced by the 
Company, including the exposures to market, insurance, credit and financial soundness risk. The performance of the 
Company, its continuing ability to write business and the strategic management of the business depend on its ability to 
manage these risks.  
 
Lloyds Banking Group retains primary responsibility for the management of investment risks arising in respect of the 
shareholder funds within the Company.  These funds are managed in line with the Lloyds Banking Group and LP&I risk 
policies.  Responsibility for the management of all other risks resides with the Board of each Company who have delegated 
their authority to the LP&I Executive Committee.   
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26. Risk management (continued) 

 
Policy owners, identified from appropriate areas across the business, are responsible for drafting the Lloyds Banking Group 
and LP&I risk policies, for ensuring that they remain up-to-date and for facilitating any changes.  These policies are subject 
to at least an annual review, or earlier if deemed necessary.  Limits are prescribed within which those responsible for the day 
to day management of the Company can make decisions.  Line management are required to follow prescribed reporting 
procedures to the bodies responsible for monitoring compliance with policy and controlling the risks.   
 
 

(b)  Risk appetite 
 

The Company has defined the methodology for the management of risk appetite and has approved appropriate limits.  Where 
appropriate for each life company and risk component, limits are defined in terms of the amount of capital required to be 
held to cover certain specified stressed scenarios.   

 
Exposure to each type of risk is monitored against prescribed limits and the results of these tests are reported to the Board of 
the Company.  Where the exposure to any risk exceeds a trigger amount, the LP&I Executive Committee must approve an 
action plan to reduce the exposure or the St Andrew's Life Assurance plc Board must approve a revised limit. 

 
  (c)  Financial risks 
 

The Company writes a variety of insurance and investment contracts which are subject to a variety of financial risks, as set 
out below.  Contracts can be either single or regular premium and conventional (non-profit) or unit-linked in nature. 
 
The Company is exposed to a range of financial risks through its financial assets, financial liabilities, reinsurance assets and 
insurance and investment contract liabilities.  In particular, the key financial risk is that long-term investment proceeds are not 
sufficient to fund the obligations arising from its insurance and investment contracts.  The most important components of 
financial risk are market, insurance, credit and financial soundness risk. 
 
The market risks that the Company primarily faces due to the nature of its investments and liabilities are interest rate, equity, 
foreign exchange and property risk. 
 
The Company manages these risks in a numbers of ways, including risk appetite assessment and monitoring of capital resource 
requirements.  The Company also uses financial instruments (including derivatives) as part of its business activities and to reduce 
its own exposure to market risk and credit risk.  
 
For unit-linked business, policyholders’ benefits are closely linked to the investment returns on the underlying internal funds.  In 
the short term, profit and equity are therefore largely unaffected by investment returns on assets in internal unit-linked funds as 
any gains or losses will be largely offset by changes in the corresponding insurance and investment contract liabilities, provided 
that there is appropriate matching of assets and liabilities within these funds.  However, any change in the market value of these 
funds will have an indirect impact on the Company through the collection of annual management and other fund related charges.  
As markets rise or fall, these charges rise or fall correspondingly. 

 
For non-participating business, other than unit-linked business such as annuity business, the principal market risk is interest rate 
risk, which arises because assets and liabilities may exhibit differing changes in market value as a result of changes in interest 
rates.  Asset and liability matching is used to mitigate the impact of changes in interest rates.  
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured on an ongoing basis either at fair value or at amortised cost.  The summary 
of significant accounting policies (note 1) describes how the classes of financial instruments are measured and how income and 
expenses, including fair value gains and losses, are recognised. 
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26. Risk management (continued) 
 

The following tables analyse the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, with financial assets and financial liabilities being 
presented according to their IAS 39 and IFRS 4 classification: 
 

 2010 2009 
 £ m £ m 

Financial assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 44  57  
At fair value through income:   
      Investments at fair value through income   
 - Equity securities 8,169 11,269  
 - Debt securities 1,729  1,814  
      Derivative financial instruments 231  173  
At amortised cost:   
 - Loans and receivables 62  43  
Reinsurers’ share of insurance contract liabilities 136  98  
 10,371 13,454  
Other assets   
Current tax receivable 18  17  
Investment in subsidiaries 2,273 - 
Investment properties  148  88  
Deferred tax assets 151  266  
Deferred costs 218  275  
   
Total assets 13,179  14,100  

 
 2010 2009 
 £ m £ m 

Financial liabilities   
Insurance contract liabilities 11,776  12,691  
At fair value through income:   
      Investment contract liabilities 10  9  
      Derivative financial instruments 25  20  
At amortised cost:   
      Other financial liabilities 361  361  
 12,172 13,081  
Other liabilities   
Current tax payables 57  31  
Provisions for other liabilities and charges -  2  
Deferred tax liabilities 69 157  
   
Total liabilities 12,298 13,271  

 
A maturity analysis of the financial liabilities set out in the above tables is given in the liquidity risk section of this note. 
 
 
1. Market risk 

 
Market risk is the risk of reductions in earnings and/or value, through financial or reputational loss, from unfavourable market 
movements.  This risk typically arises from fluctuations in market interest rates (interest rate risk),  market prices (equity and 
property risk), and foreign exchange rates (foreign exchange risk), whether such changes are caused by factors specific to the 
individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all instruments traded in the market. 
 
Investment holdings within the Company are diversified across markets and, within markets, across sectors. Holdings of 
individual assets are diversified to minimise specific risk and large individual exposures are monitored closely. For assets 
heldout with unit-linked funds, investments are only permitted in countries and markets which are sufficiently regulated and 
liquid. 
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26. Risk management (continued) 

 
Market risk policy is dependent on the nature of the funds in question, and can be broadly summarised as follows: 
 

 Assets held in shareholder funds are invested in money market funds, gilts and investment grade bonds to match 
regulatory capital requirements. The balance of the shareholder fund assets is managed in line with the policies of 
the Lloyds Banking Group to optimise shareholder return and minimise risk.   This includes suitable use of 
derivates to minimise shareholder risk. 

 Unit-linked assets are invested in accordance with the nature of the fund mandates. 
 Conventional non-profit liabilities are “close matched” as far as possible in relation to currency, nature and 

duration.  
 

 An analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through income according to their fair value hierarchy (as 
defined in note 1 (c)) is given below: 

 
As at 31 December 2010 
 
 Fair value hierarchy 
 Level 1 

£m 
Level 2 

£m 
Level 3 

£m 
Total 
£m 

     
Equity securities 8,169 - - 8,169 
Debt securities 1,537 192 - 1,729 
Derivative financial assets - 231 - 231 
Total assets 9,706 423 - 10,129 
     
Derivative financial liabilities 1 24 - 25 
Investment contract liabilities - 10 - 10 
Total liabilities 1 34 - 35 

 
As at 31 December 2009 

 
 Fair value hierarchy 
 Level 1 

£m 
Level 2 

£m 
Level 3 

£m 
Total 
£m 

     
Equity securities 11,269 - - 11,269 
Debt securities 1,485 329 - 1,814 
Derivative financial assets 1 172 - 173 
Total assets 12,755 501 - 13,256 
     
Derivative financial liabilities 4 16 - 20 
Investment contract liabilities - 9 - 9 
Total liabilities 4 25 - 29 

 
The sensitivity analyses given throughout this note are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions 
constant.  In practice, this is unlikely to occur as changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated, for example changes 
in interest rates and changes in market values.  The sensitivity analysis presented also represents, in accordance with the 
requirements of IFRS 7, management’s assessment of the most likely other outcomes in respect of each sensitivity, rather 
than worst case scenario positions. 
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26. Risk management (continued) 
 

(i) Equity and property risk 
 

The exposure of the Company’s insurance and investment contract business to equity and property risk relates to financial 
assets and financial liabilities whose values will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices other than from interest and 
foreign exchange fluctuations. This is due to factors specific to individual instruments, their issuers or factors affecting all 
instruments traded in the market. Accordingly, the Company monitors exposure limits both to any one counterparty and any 
one market. 
 
There is no material sensitivity due to fluctuations in market prices at the reporting date to the fair value of future cash flows in 
respect of properties, net of offsetting movements in insurance and investment contract liabilities.  The table below shows the 
sensitivity in respect of equities. 
 

 2010 2009 
Impact on profit after tax and equity at reporting date £ m £ m 
 
10% (2009: 10%) increase in equity prices (6) 1 
10% (2009: 10%) decrease in equity prices 6 (1) 

 
(ii) Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
interest rates and the shape of the yield curve.  Interest rate risk in respect of the Company’s insurance and investment 
contracts arises when there is a mismatch in duration or yield between liabilities and the assets backing those liabilities. 
 
The Company’s interest rate risk policy requires that the maturity profile of interest-bearing financial assets is appropriately 
matched to the guaranteed elements of the financial liabilities.    
 
A fall in market interest rates will result in a lower yield on the assets supporting guaranteed investment returns payable to 
policyholders.  This investment return guarantee risk is managed by matching assets to liabilities as closely as possible.  An 
increase in market interest rates will result in a reduction in the value of assets subject to fixed rates of interest which may 
result in losses if, as a result of an increase in the level of surrenders, the corresponding fixed income securities have to be sold. 
 
The effect of changes in interest rates in respect of financial assets which back insurance contract liabilities is given in note 
25. The effect on the Company of changes in the value of investments held in respect of investment contract liabilities due to 
fluctuations in market interest rates is negligible as any changes will be offset by movements in the corresponding liability.  
 
The sensitivity analysis below illustrates how the fair value of future cash flows in respect of interest-bearing financial assets, 
net of offsetting movements in insurance and investment contract liabilities, will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates at the reporting date. 
 

 2010 2009 
Impact on profit after tax and equity at reporting date £ m £ m 
 
25 basis points (2009: 25 basis points) increase in yield curves 3 3 
25 basis points (2009: 25 basis points) decrease in yield curves (3) (3) 

 
 
(iii) Foreign exchange risk 
 
Foreign exchange risk relates to the effects of movements in exchange markets including changes in exchange rates. The 
overall risk to the Company is minimal due to the following:  

 The Company’s principal transactions are carried out in pounds sterling;  
 The Company’s financial assets are primarily denominated in the same currencies as its insurance and investment 

contract liabilities; and  
 Other than shareholder funds, all non-linked investments of the non-profit funds are in sterling or are currency 

matched.  The effect on the Company of changes in the value of investments held in respect of investment contract 
liabilities due to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates is negligible as any changes will be offset by movements in 
the corresponding liability.  
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26. Risk management (continued) 

 
2. Insurance risk 
 
Insurance risk is the risk of reductions in earnings and/or value through financial or reputational loss due to fluctuations in the 
timing, frequency and severity of insured events and to fluctuations in the timing and amount of claim settlements. The 
principal risk the Company faces under insurance contracts is that the actual claims and benefit payments exceed the amounts 
expected at the time of determining the insurance liabilities. 
 
The nature of the Company’s business involves the accepting of insurance risks which primarily relate to mortality, morbidity, 
persistency and expenses. Each company which transacts new business underwrites policies to ensure an appropriate premium 
is charged for the risk or that the risk is declined.  
 
The Company principally writes the following types of life insurance contracts: 
 
• Life assurance – where the life of the policyholder is insured against death or permanent disability, usually for pre-

determined amounts  
• Morbidity products – where the policyholder is insured against the risk of contracting a defined illness 
 
For contracts where death is the insured risk, the most significant factors that could increase the overall level of claims are 
epidemics or widespread changes in lifestyle, such as eating, smoking and exercise habits, resulting in earlier or more claims 
than expected.   
 
For contracts where survival is the insured risk, the most significant factor is continued improvement in medical science and 
social conditions that would increase longevity. 
 
For contracts with fixed and guaranteed benefits and fixed future premiums, there are no mitigating terms and conditions that 
significantly reduce the insurance risk accepted.   
 
Insurance risk is also affected by the policyholders’ right to pay reduced or no future premiums, to terminate the contract 
completely.  As a result, the amount of insurance risk is also subject to policyholder behaviour.  On the assumption that 
policyholders will make decisions that are in their best interests, overall insurance risk will generally be aggravated by 
policyholder behaviour.  For example, it is likely that policyholders whose health has deteriorated significantly will be less 
inclined to terminate contracts insuring death benefits than those policyholders who remain in good health. 
 
The Company has taken account of the expected impact of policyholder behaviour in setting the assumptions used to measure 
insurance and investment contract liabilities. 
 
The principal methods available to the Company to control or mitigate longevity, mortality and morbidity risk are through the 
following processes:  
 

 Underwriting (the process to ensure that new insurance proposals are properly assessed);  
 Pricing-to-risk (new insurance proposals would usually be priced in accordance with the underwriting assessment);  
 Claims management; 
 Product design;  
 Policy wording; and 
 The use of reinsurance and other risk mitigation techniques.  

 
Rates of mortality and morbidity are investigated annually based on the Company’s recent experience and future mortality 
assumptions are set using the latest population data available.  The Company’s reinsurance arrangements are reviewed at least 
annually. 
 
Persistency risk is the risk associated with the ability to retain long-term business and the ability to renew short-term business.  
The Company aims to reduce its exposure to persistency risk through revising the commission structure on future product 
developments and undertaking various initiatives to promote customer loyalty.   These initiatives are aimed both at the point of 
sale and through direct contact with existing policyholders ,for example, through annual statement information packs. 
 
Further information on assumptions, changes in assumptions and sensitivities in respect of insurance contracts is given in note 
25. 
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26. Risk management (continued) 

 
3. Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of reductions in earnings and/or value, through financial or reputational loss, as a result of the failure of 
the party with whom the Company has contracted to meet its obligations.  
 
Investment counterparty default risk arises primarily from holding invested assets to meet liabilities, and reinsurer default 
credit risk primarily arises from exposure to reinsurers. 
 
Credit risk in respect of unit-linked funds is borne by the policyholders. Consequently, the Company has no significant 
exposure to credit risk for those funds. 
 
For non-linked fund investments, limits on the exposure to a single entity are specified and monitored. Bond exposures are 
managed through credit rating bands and maximum exposures to individual assets and sectors are set. Assets are restricted to 
securities in a specified list of countries, and limits applicable to property portfolios are set to prevent concentration of 
exposure to single tenants and single buildings.  
 
Shareholder funds are managed in line with the LP&I Credit Risk Policy and the wider Lloyds Banking Group Credit Risk 
Policy and the principles are the same as those outlined above in respect of non-linked funds. 
 
Reinsurance is primarily used to reduce insurance risk.  However, it is also sought for other reasons such as improving 
profitability, reducing capital requirements and obtaining technical support.  In addition, reinsurance is also used to offer 
Investment Fund Links which we are unable to provide through other means. The Company’s reinsurance strategy is to 
reduce the volatility of profits through the use of reinsurance whilst managing the insurance and credit risk within the 
constraints of the risk appetite limits.   
 
The Company has reinsurance on some lines of business where mortality or morbidity risk exceeds set retention limits.  This 
does not, however, discharge the Company’s liability as primary insurer.  If a reinsurer fails to pay a claim for any reason, 
the Company remains liable for the payment to the policyholder. All new material reinsurance treaties are subject to Board 
approval and all reinsurance arrangements are reviewed annually to ensure that the reinsurance strategy is being achieved.  
This includes an assessment of the exposure to each reinsurer to ensure that it is within the defined limit. 
 
Policies are treated as lapsed when payments from the policyholder have not been received for three consecutive months and 
the policyholder has not provided further information in respect of the non-payment of premiums. 
 
Exposure to other trade debtors is assessed on a case by case basis, using a credit rating agency where appropriate. 

 
The following table sets out details of those assets which bear credit risk: 
 
  2010 2009 
  £ m £ m 
    
At fair value through income:    
      Debt securities at fair value  1,729 1,814 
      Derivative financial instruments at fair value  231 173 
At amortised cost:    
      Loans and receivables at amortised cost  62 43 
Reinsurers’ share of insurance contract liabilities  136 98 
Cash and cash equivalents  44 57 
Total assets bearing credit risk  2,202 2,185 
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26. Risk management (continued) 

 
The tables below analyse financial assets subject to credit risk using Standard & Poor’s rating or equivalent.   

 
As at 31 December 2010 
 

 
 

Total 
 

AAA AA 
 

A 
BBB or 
lower Not rated 

 £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m 
       
Debt securities 1,729 1,727 - - 2 - 
Derivative financial instruments 231 - 52 179 - - 
Loans and receivables 62 12 - 24 - 26 
Reinsurers’ share of insurance 
and participating investment 
contract liabilities 

136 - 37 3 - 96 

Cash and cash equivalents 44 - 26 18 - - 
Total 2,202 1,739 115 224 2 122 

 
Amounts classified as “not rated” are not rated by Standard & Poor’s or an equivalent rating agency.  The 'not rated' 
reinsurers' share of insurance and participating investment contract liabilities relate to a company within the group. 
 
As at 31 December 2009 
 

 
 

Total 
 

AAA AA 
 

A 
BBB or 
lower Not rated 

 £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m 
       
Debt securities 1,814 1,756 1 57 - - 
Derivative financial instruments 173 158 1 14 - - 
Loans and receivables 43 9 - - - 34 
Reinsurers’ share of insurance 
and participating investment 
contract liabilities 

98 - - - - 98 

Cash and cash equivalents 57 17 20 20 - - 
Total 2,185 1,940 22 91 - 132 

 
Amounts classified as “not rated” are not rated by Standard & Poor’s or an equivalent rating agency.  The 'not rated' 
reinsurers' share of insurance and participating investment contract liabilities relate to a company within the group. 
 
(i) Concentration risk 
 
Credit concentration risk 
  
Credit concentration risk relates to the inadequate diversification of credit risk.  
 
Credit risk is managed through the setting and regular review of counterparty credit and concentration limits on asset types 
which are considered more likely to lead to a concentration of credit risk. For other asset types, such as UK government 
securities or investments in funds falling under the UCITS Directive, no limits are prescribed as the risk of credit 
concentration is deemed to be immaterial. This policy supports the approach mandated by the Financial Services Authority 
for regulatory reporting. 
 
At 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009, the Company did not have any significant concentration of credit risk with a 
single counterparty or group of counterparties where limits applied. With the exception of Government bonds and UCITS 
funds, the largest aggregated counterparty exposure is approximately 0.5% (2009: Nil%) of the Company’s total assets, 
excluding unit-linked funds where credit risk is matched by policyholder liabilities. 
 
The Company maintains strict control limits on the derivative positions held by each fund as set out in the LP&I Derivatives 
Risk Policy (“DRP”). 
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26. Risk management (continued) 

 
Liquidity concentration risk  
  
Liquidity concentration risk arises where the Company is unable to meet its obligations as they fall due or do so only at an 
excessive cost, due to over-concentration of investments in particular financial assets or classes of financial asset.   
  
As most of the Company's invested assets are diversified across a range of marketable equity and debt securities in line with 
the investment options offered to policyholders it is highly unlikely that a material concentration of liquidity concentration 
could arise. 
  
This is supplemented by active liquidity management in the Company, to ensure that even under stress conditions the 
Company has sufficient liquidity as required to meet its obligations.  This is delegated by the Board to and monitored 
through the LP&I Shareholder and With-Profits Investment Management Committee ("SAWPIMC"), Operational Banking 
Committee and Capital Working Company. 
 
(ii) Collateral management 
 
Collateral in respect of OTC derivatives 
 
The requirement for collateralisation, including the levels at which collateral is required and the types of asset that are 
deemed to be acceptable collateral, are set out in a Credit Support Annex (“CSA”).  A CSA is a bilateral legal agreement 
which, once signed, forms part of the International Swaps and Derivatives Association (“ISDA”) agreement between the 
Company and the counterparty. 
 
A CSA must be completed for OTC derivatives as part of the contracts for such transactions.  The CSA will require 
collateralisation where any net exposure to a counterparty exceeds the OTC counterparty limit, which must be established in 
accordance with the Fund Mandates.  The aggregate uncollateralised exposure to any one counterparty must not exceed 
limits specified in the Fund Mandates.  Where derivative counterparties are related, the aggregate net exposure is considered 
for the purposes of applying these limits. 
 
Collateralisation is the pledging or receiving of assets as a guarantee against the fulfilment of a future obligation, normally 
through a cash transfer or asset delivery. 

 
The aggregate exposure, net of any collateralisation, to any one counterparty, across all life companies, funds and 
transactions, should not exceed £10m. 
 
Acceptable collateral is defined in each instance and must take into account the quality and appropriateness of the proposed 
collateral as well as being acceptable to the entity receiving the collateral.  Collateral may include the following: 
 

 Sovereign government debt of developed economies; 
 Supranational debt denominated in eligible currencies; 
 Corporate bonds denominated in eligible currencies; 
 Equities denominated in eligible currencies; and 
 Cash (this is received and invested in the SWIP Global Liquidity Fund). 

 
Assets with the following carrying amounts have been pledged in accordance with the terms of the relevant CSAs entered 
into in respect of various OTC derivative contracts: 
 

 2010 2009 
 £ m £ m 
   
Cash and cash equivalents 7 - 
   
Total 7 - 

 
 
The Company has the right to recall any collateral pledged provided that this is replaced with alternative acceptable assets.  
Collateral pledged continues to be recognised on the Company’s balance sheet.  No account is taken of collateral held. 
 
The policy of the Company is not to repledge assets.  No collateral (2009: £nil) was sold during the year.  At 31 December 
2010, assets with a fair value of £39m (2009: £144m) were available to the Company to sell even in the absence of default by 
the counterparty.  None of these assets were past due or impaired at 31 December 2010 or 31 December 2009.  In the event 
of default, assets received as collateral are sold.   
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26. Risk management (continued) 

 
Collateral held in respect of OTC derivatives at 31 December 2010 had a fair value of £206m (2009: £144m). 
 
All collateral held relates to fully performing assets. 
 
Collateral in respect of stocklending 
 
The Company enters into stocklending transactions.  The LP&I SAWPIMC is responsible for setting the parameters of 
stocklending and therefore changes to these parameters. The accepted collateral can include cash, equities, certain bonds and 
money market instruments.  On a daily basis, the fair value of collateral is compared to the fair value of stock on loan. The 
value of collateral must always exceed the value of stock on loan. Further information in respect of collateral relating to 
stocklending is given in note 28. 
 
Stocklending is permitted in accordance with the LP&I Credit Risk Policy on stocklending.  All stocklending takes place on 
an open/call basis, enabling the loan to be recalled at any time within the standard settlement terms of the market concerned. 
 
The policy requires all lending to be undertaken via a partial indemnified programme (where the operator of the programme 
provides an indemnification against borrower and collateral default).  The partial programme does not cover the re-
investment of outright cash and therefore the policy specifies that the LP&I SAWPIMC  will set counterparty limits for the 
re-investment of such balances.  
 
Additionally, the LP&I SAWPIMC will set limits on the maximum amount of any security that may be lent and the markets 
in which lending can take place. 
 
The policy requires acceptable collateral to be pledged to at least the value of securities lent and sets specific parameters over 
what qualifies as acceptable collateral. 
 
There were no loan defaults in respect of stocklending during the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: none) which required 
a call to be made on collateral. 
 
 
4. Financial soundness risk 
 
Financial soundness risk covers the risk of financial failure, reputational loss or loss of earnings and/or value arising from a 
lack of liquidity, funding or capital and/or the inappropriate recording, reporting or disclosure of financial, taxation and 
regulatory information. 
 
(i) Financial and prudential regulatory reporting, tax and disclosure risks 

 
The Company is exposed to the risk that policies and procedures are not sufficient to maintain adequate books and records to 
support statutory, regulatory and tax reporting and to prevent and detect financial reporting fraud. 
 
The Company has developed procedures to ensure that compliance with both current and potential future requirements are 
understood and that policies are aligned to its risk appetite.  The Company maintains a system of internal controls, 
consistently applied, providing reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded and undertaken in accordance with 
delegated authorities that permit the preparation and disclosure of financial statements, regulatory reporting and tax returns 
in accordance with IFRSs, statutory and regulatory requirements. 
 
The Company undertakes a programme of work designed to support an annual assessment of the effectiveness of internal 
controls over financial reporting, to identify tax liabilities and to assess emerging legislation and regulation. 
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26. Risk management (continued) 

 
(ii) Liquidity risk  
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet its financial commitments as 
they fall due, or can secure them only at an excessive cost. Liquidity risk may result from either the inability to sell financial 
assets quickly at their fair values; or from an insurance liability falling due for payment earlier than expected; or from the 
inability to generate cash inflows as anticipated.     
 
Liquidity risk has been analysed as arising from payments to policyholders (including those where payment is at the 
discretion of the policyholder) and non policyholder related activity (such as investment purchases and the payment of 
shareholder expenses).   
 
In order to quantify the liquidity risk exposure on all non-linked types of business, various stress tests are considered.  
Liquidity risk is measured by comparing the projected outflow in the stress scenario for twelve months of surrenders and 
three months of maturities against the sum of liquid resources available.  In conducting this assessment, no account is taken 
of future policyholder inflows.  The Company had coverage of at least 100% at 31 December 2010 in all stress scenarios 
considered.  
 
Liquidity risk in respect of each of the major product areas is primarily mitigated as follows: 

 
Non-participating funds 
 
For unit-linked products, portfolios are invested in accordance with unit fund mandates.  Deferral clauses are included in 
policyholder contracts to give time, when necessary, to realise linked assets without being a forced seller. As at 31 December 
2010, there are no funds under management subject to deferral. 
 
For non unit-linked products, investments are mostly held in gilts with minimal liquidity risk.  Investments are arranged to 
minimise the possibility of being a distressed seller whilst at the same time investing to meet policyholder obligations. This 
is achieved by anticipating policyholder behaviour and sales of underlying assets within funds.  
 
Shareholder funds 
 
For shareholder funds, liquidity risk is managed in line with the LP&I Liquidity Risk Policy and the wider Lloyds Banking 
Group Funding and Liquidity Risk Policy.  
 
The following tables indicate the timing of the contractual cash flows arising from the Company’s financial liabilities, as 
required by IFRS 7.  Liquidity risk in respect of insurance contract liabilities has been analysed based on the expected 
pattern of maturities as permitted by IFRS 4 rather than by contractual maturity.  A maturity analysis of investment contracts 
based on expected contract maturities is also given as it is considered that this analysis provides additional useful information 
in respect of the liquidity risk relating to contracts written by the Company. 
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26. Risk management (continued) 
 
 As at 31 December 2010 
 

Contractual cash flows (undiscounted) Liabilities Carrying 
amount No stated 

maturity 
Less than 
1 month 

1-3 
months 

3-12 
months 

1-5 years More than 
5 years 

 £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m 
        
Investment contract 
liabilities 
 

10 - 10 - - - - 

Derivative financial 
instruments 
 

25 - 1 5 6 13 - 

Other financial liabilities 
 

361 - 322 - - 39 - 

Total 396 - 333 5 6 52 - 
 

As at 31 December 2009 
 

Contractual cash flows (undiscounted) Liabilities Carrying 
amount No stated 

maturity 
Less than 
1 month 

1-3 
months 

3-12 
months 

1-5 years More than 
5 years 

 £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m £ m 
        
Investment contract 
liabilities 
 

9 - 9 - - - - 

Derivative financial 
instruments 
 

20 - - 4 1 15 - 

Other financial liabilities 
 

361 - 217 1 16 127 - 

Total 390 - 226 5 17 142 - 
 

The contractual cash flow analysis set out above has been based on the earliest possible contractual date, regardless of the 
surrender penalties that might apply and has not been adjusted to take account of such penalties. 
 
An analysis of the contractual cash flows in respect of insurance and investment contract liabilities by expected contract 
maturity, on a discounted basis, is shown below: 

 
As at 31 December 2010 

  
Maturity Analysis for insurance and 
investment contracts 

 
 

Total 
£ m 

Less 
than 

1 month 
£ m 

 
1-3 

months 
£ m 

 
3-12 

months 
£ m 

 
1-5 

years 
£ m 

More 
than 5 
years 
£ m 

       
Insurance contracts 11,776 123 252 904 3,353 7,144 
Investment contracts 10 - - 1 3 6 

 
 
As at 31 December 2009 

  
Maturity Analysis for insurance and 
investment contract  

 
 

Total 
£ m 

Less 
than 

1 month 
£ m 

 
1-3 

months 
£ m 

 
3-12 

months 
£ m 

 
1-5 

years 
£ m 

More 
than 5 
years 
£ m 

       
Insurance contracts 12,691 436 749 1,144 3,365 6,997 
Investment contracts 9 1 1 4 3 - 
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26. Risk management (continued) 
 

(iii) Capital risk  
 

Capital risk is defined as the risk that:  
 the Company has insufficient capital to meet its regulatory capital requirements;  
 the Company has insufficient capital to provide a stable resource to absorb all losses up to a confidence level 

defined in the risk appetite;  
 the Company loses reputational status by having capital that is regarded as inappropriate, either in quantity, type or 

distribution; and/or 
 the capital structure is inefficient.  

 
The business of the Company is regulated by the FSA.  The FSA specifies the minimum amount of capital that must be held 
by the Company in addition to its insurance liabilities.   
 
Within the LP&I business unit, capital risk is actively monitored by the LP&I Capital Working Company. 
 
Under the FSA rules, each insurance company must hold assets in excess of the higher of: 
 

 the Pillar 1 amount, which is calculated by applying fixed percentages of mathematical reserves and capital at risk; 
and 

 the Pillar 2 amount, which is derived from an economic capital assessment undertaken by each regulated company, 
which is reviewed by the FSA.   

 
The minimum required capital must be maintained at all times throughout the year.  These capital requirements and the 
capital available to meet them are regularly estimated in order to ensure that capital maintenance requirements are being met.   
 
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are: 
 

 to comply with the insurance capital requirements set out by the FSA in the UK; 
 to have sufficient further capital to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can 

continue to provide returns for the shareholder and benefits for other stakeholders; and 
 when capital is needed, to require an adequate return to the shareholder by pricing insurance and investment 

contracts according to the level of risk associated with the business written. 
 

The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to reflect changes in economic conditions and the risk 
characteristics of the underlying assets.  In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the 
amount of dividends paid to the shareholder, return capital to the shareholder, issue new shares or sell assets. 

 
The Company’s capital comprises all components of equity, movements in which are set out in the statement of changes in 
equity. 

 
The table below sets out the regulatory capital and the required capital held at 31 December in each year on a Pillar 1 basis.   
 
 
 

 2010 
£ m 

2009 
£ m 

    
Regulatory capital held  607 517 
Regulatory capital required  140 249 
 
All minimum regulatory requirements were met during the year. 

 
5. Legal and prudential regulatory risks 

 
The Company also faces a number of legal and prudential regulatory risks, reflecting the volume and pace of change within 
the UK.  This impacts the Company both operationally, in terms of costs of compliance and uncertainty about regulatory 
expectations, and strategically, through pressure on key earnings streams.  The latter could potentially result in major 
changes to business and pricing models, particularly in the UK retail market.  Business planning processes continue to reflect 
change to the regulatory environment. 
 
Regulators are interested in protecting the rights of the policyholders and ensuring that the Company is satisfactorily 
managing affairs for the benefit of the policyholders.  Regulators are also keen to ensure that the Company maintains 
appropriate solvency levels to meet unforeseen liabilities arising from reasonably foreseeable economic shocks or natural 
disasters.  As such, the Company is subject to regulatory requirements which prescribe and impose certain restrictive 
provisions.  
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27. Related party transactions 
 

(a) Ultimate parent and shareholding 
 

The Company’s immediate parent undertaking is Halifax Life Limited, a company registered in the United Kingdom. Halifax 
Life Limited has taken advantage of the provisions of the Companies Act 2006 and has not produced consolidated financial 
statements.  
 
The Company’s ultimate parent company and ultimate controlling party is Lloyds Banking Group plc, which is also the 
parent undertaking of the largest group of undertakings for which group accounts are drawn up and of which the Company is 
a member.  HBOS plc is the parent undertaking of the smallest such group of undertakings. Copies of the Lloyds Banking 
Group plc financial statements in which the Company is consolidated can be obtained from the Group Secretary’s 
Department, Lloyds Banking Group plc, 25 Gresham Street, London EC2V 7HN. 
 

(b) Transactions between the Company and other companies in the Lloyds Banking Group 
 

The Company has entered into the following transactions with other related parties during the year and holds the following 
balances with other related parties at the end of the year 

 
 Transactions in the Year Outstanding Balances at 31 

December 
Relationship 2010 

£m 
2009 
£m 

2010 
£m 

2009 
£m 

     
Ultimate Parent Undertaking:     
     
Investments and amounts receivable (103) 252 151 254 
     
Parent undertakings:     
     
Commission and amounts receivable 263 1,326 3 (12) 
Reinsurance and amounts receivable 35 185 3 1 
Expense recharges and amounts payable (46) (44) (3) (6) 
     
Other Related Parties:     
     
Commission and amounts receivable 46 - (2) - 
Cash and amounts receivable (216) (7) 24 25 
Derivatives and amounts receivable - 5 - 5 
Expense recharges and amounts payable (4) 259 (45) (46) 
Interest payable - (1) - - 
Management fees and amounts payable (23) (21) (1) (2) 
 
 
Transactions between the Company and key management 
 
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the Company which, for the Company, are the Directors. 
 
Transactions between the key management personnel of the Company and parties related to them as defined by IAS 24 
“Related Party Disclosures” are as follows: 
 
The table below details management personal compensation: 

 
 2010 2009 
 £'000 £'000 
   
Salaries and other short-term benefits 136 147 
Post-employment benefits 9 30 
Share-based Payments 23 - 
Total 168 177 
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27. Related party transactions  (continued) 

 
Certain members of key management in the Company, including the highest paid director, provide services to other 
companies within the Lloyds Banking Group. In such cases for the purposes of this note, figures have been included based 
on an apportionment to the Company of the total compensation earned. 
 
Retirement benefits are accruing to two Directors (2009: two) under defined benefit pension schemes.  
 
The highest paid Director's emoluments are not required to be disclosed for the year ended 31 December 2010 as they fall below 
the appropriate threshold. 

 
HM Treasury 
 
In January 2009, HM Treasury became a related party of the Company following its subscription for ordinary shares in Lloyds 
Banking Group, the Company’s ultimate parent company, issued under a placing and open offer.  As at 31 December 2010, 
HM Treasury held a 41 per cent (2009: 43 per cent) interest in LBG’s ordinary share capital and, consequently, HM Treasury 
remained a related party of the Company throughout 2010. 
 
There were no material transactions between the Company and HM treasury during the year (2009: £Nil) that were not made 
in the ordinary course of business or that are unusual in their nature or conditions. In addition, the Company have entered 
into transactions with HM treasury on an arm's length basis including, but not exclusively in relation to, the payment of 
corporation tax, employment tax and value added tax. Owing to the volume and diversity, such transactions are not 
disclosed.  
 
 

28. Stocklending 
 
The aggregate value of securities on loan by the Company is £245m (2009: £Nil). Securities on loan are included in 
investments at fair value through income and no account is taken of collateral held. The aggregate value of collateral held is 
£256m (2009: £Nil). This collateral was in the form of high quality bonds and equity. Further detail in respect of collateral is 
provided in note 26. 
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29. Future accounting developments 

 
The following pronouncements will be relevant to the Company but were not effective at 31 December 2010 and have not 
been applied in preparing these financial statements. The full impact of these accounting changes is being assessed by the 
Company.  The initial view is that none of these pronouncements are expected to cause any material adjustments to reported 
numbers in the financial statements. 
 

Pronouncement Nature of change IASB effective date 

Improvements to IFRSs 
(issued May 2010) 

‘Improvements to IFRSs’ (issued May 2010). Sets out minor 
amendments to IFRS standards as part of the annual improvements 
process. The effective dates vary on a standard by standard basis but 
none are effective any earlier than annual periods beginning on or after 
1 July 2010. 

Dealt with on a 
standard by 
standard basis but 
not earlier than 
annual periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 July 2010. 

   

IAS 24 Related Party 
Disclosures1 

Simplifies the definition of a related party and provides a partial 
exemption from the disclosure requirements for government related 
entities. 

Annual periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2011. 

   

Amendment to IAS 32 
Financial Instruments: 
Presentation – 
‘Classification of Rights 
Issues’ 

Requires rights issues denominated in a currency other than the 
functional currency of the issuer to be classified as equity regardless of 
the currency in which the exercise price is denominated. 

Annual periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 February 
2010. 

   

IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments: 
Classification and 
Measurement1 

IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement'. 
Replaces those parts of IAS 39 'Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement' relating to the classification, measurement and 
derecognition of financial assets and liabilities. It requires financial 
assets to be classified into two measurement categories, fair value and 
amortised cost, on the basis of the objectives of the entity’s business 
model for managing its financial assets and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the instrument.  The available-for-sale financial asset 
and held-to-maturity investment categories in the existing IAS 39 will 
be eliminated. The requirements for financial liabilities and 
derecognition are broadly unchanged from IAS 39.  

 

IFRS 9 is the initial stage of the project to replace IAS 39. Future 
stages are expected to result in amendments to IFRS 9 to deal with 
changes to the impairment of financial assets measured at amortised 
cost and hedge accounting. Until all stages of the replacement project 
are complete, it is not possible to determine the overall impact on the 
financial statements of the replacement of IAS 39. The effective date 
of the standard is annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 

Annual periods 
beginning on or 
after 1 January 
2013. 

 
30. Post balance sheet events 
 

An opt-out clause to the European Union (“EU”) Gender Directive has permitted insurers to take gender into account as a 
risk factor when pricing contracts.  In March 2011 the European Court of Justice (“ECJ”), ruling on a test case, deemed that 
the opt-out infringes fundamental European rights for equal treatment of men and women.  Under the ruling, the ECJ 
requires the UK Government to amend domestic regulation on or before 21 December 2012 to reflect the ruling.  It is 
anticipated that such changes will alter the future market and prices for insurance products to a significant extent.  The 
potential impact on the Company is being assessed.  Any financial impact is uncertain until such time as the ruling is 
formally adopted into UK domestic legislation and the current uncertainty on retrospection is clarified. 
 
As outlined in Note 12, the Finance Act (No.2) 2010 reduced the rate of corporation tax from 28% to 27% with effect from 1 
April 2011. The Chancellor's Budget, announced on 23 March 2011, further reduced the rate of corporation tax to 26% with 
effect from 1 April 2011. The reduction to 26% is not estimated to have a significant effect on deferred tax assets and 
liabilities as at 31 December 2010 and will be reflected in the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011. 
The Chancellor also announced that the tax rate would fall to 23% by 2014. The impact of these proposed changes cannot be 
reliably estimated. 

 


